NO. 2008-CA-00608
	BEACON PROPERTIES, LLC
	Plaintiff/Appellant,
	VERSUS
	BANK OF THE SOUTH
	Defendant/Appellee.
APPEAL F	ROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COPIAH COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI
HONORABL	E ISADORE W. PATRICK, CIRCUIT JUDGE
	BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

MICHAEL T. JAOUES

196 CHARMANT PLACE, SUITE 1 RIDGELAND, MISSISSIPPI 39157 601/969-7500

Attorney for Plaintiff/Appellant

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

BEACON PROPERTIES, LLC

Plaintiff/Appellant

VERSUS

CAUSE NO.: 2008-00608

BANK OF THE SOUTH

Defendant/Appellee

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Did the trial court err in rejecting Beacon's peremptory jury instruction, P-14, and instead allow the jury to determine whether or not Beacon's check had been converted by Bank of the South, when the undisputed facts established conversion pursuant to §75-3-420, as there was no negotiation of the check, and the individual who presented the check to the Bank was not an individual entitled to enforce the instrument as required by the statute?
- II. Did the trial court err in denying Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment as to conversion by ruling that whether or not Jason Traxler was a person "entitled to enforce" the check was an issue of fact for the jury instead of an issue of law, and then compound the error by refusing to grant Jury Instructions P-8 [R-704; RE-21], P-13 [R-708; RE-23], and P-12 [R-709; RE-22]¹, which instructed the jury that if Jason Traxler was not "entitled to enforce the

¹Throughout Appellant's brief, the following designations apply to the record: "R-xx" refers to the first six volumes of the trial court record; "T-xx" refers to the last five volumes of the record, constituting the trial transcript; "RE-xx" refers to Appellant's record excerpts, and "Trial Ex.- xx" refers to the trial exhibits contained in the notebook supplied with the record.

instrument", Beacon should prevail on the conversion claim?

- III. Did the trial court err in allowing the jury to determine title to the check, where the undisputed evidence established as a matter of law that pursuant to §75-3-307, the Bank had notice of Beacon's claim to the check, the Bank was not a holder in due course, and was therefore subject at all times to Beacon's claim to title of the negotiable instrument?
- IV. Did the trial court err in refusing to grant jury instruction P-16, which would have allowed the jury to determine that the Bank had notice of the claim of Beacon to the instrument, and therefore prevented holder in due course status?
- V. Did the trial court err in allowing the jury to determine whether or not "apparent authority" existed and, by giving Jury Instructions C-3 [R-699; RE-20] and D-1 [R-714; RE-27], err in instructing the jury as to the applicability of "apparent authority to negotiate" as a defense to the conversion of the check under the circumstances, and instructing the jury that the check had been negotiated, where no negotiation under the Uniform Commercial Code occurred?
- VI. Did the trial court err in giving jury instruction D-12 [R-716: RE-28], which was a misplaced "mitigation of damages" instruction?
- VII. Did the trial court err in refusing to grant Beacon Properties, LLC's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, or, in the Alternative, Motion for New Trial [R-756-787], based on the errors raise therein, including the erroneous instructions given, and the fact that the jury's verdict was contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence?

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

BEACON PROPERTIES, LLC

Plaintiff/Appellant

VERSUS

CAUSE NO.: 2008-TS-00608

BANK OF THE SOUTH

Defendant/Appellee

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a civil suit between Beacon Properties, LLC, a Mississippi limited liability company, and Bank of the South, a Copiah County, Mississippi bank. Plaintiff below, and Appellant herein, Beacon Properties, seeks damages from the Bank due to the Bank's conversion of a negotiable instrument payable to Beacon in the amount of \$208,526.92. Mississippi's Uniform Commercial Code supplies the applicable law that should be determinative of the dispute. Beacon has alleged that the Bank, without a proper endorsement or negotiation, took Beacon's check, and applied it to debts of a single member of the limited liability company. The Bank's actions amount to conversion under the relevant UCC statute, \$75-3-420, Mississippi Code of 1972, Annotated, and entitle Beacon to judgment.

Beacon contends that due to the undisputed facts set forth in the Pre-Trial Order, the pleadings, and testified to at trial, Beacon is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW AND DISPOSITION

On October 17, 2005, Beacon Properties, LLC, David Case, and Case Realty, Inc., filed an Amended Complaint against the Bank of the South and Billy and Jason Traxler, seeking multiple damages, including reimbursement of the converted funds, and other amounts owed by Traxler to Beacon and Case. [R - 12]. Prior to trial, a compromise settlement was reached between Case, Case Realty, and the Traxlers.

Subsequent to the settlement, the only litigation remaining was the claim by Beacon Properties, LLC, against the Bank for the proceeds of the \$208,526.92 converted check. The trial court entered its Order dismissing Plaintiffs David Case and Case Realty on August 3, 2007. [R - 405]. On October 10, 2007, Plaintiff Beacon Properties, LLC filed its Second Amended Complaint. [R - 460].

The Second Amended Complaint set forth various and distinct causes of action against the Bank, including conversion pursuant to §75-3-420, negligence and gross negligence, unjust enrichment, establishment of a constructive trust, and a request for punitive damages. [R - 465-467].

Discovery progressed, and cross-Motions for Summary Judgment were filed by the parties. By Order of December 14, 2007, the trial court denied the Motions for Summary Judgment. [R - 485; RE-17]. The court found that pursuant to Mississippi's Uniform Commercial Code "Conversion" article, §75-3-420, an issue of fact existed as to whether or not Billy Traxler was an individual "entitled to enforce" the check.

On January 10, 2008, the trial court entered its Pre-Trial Order. [R - 840 - 871]. The

action proceeded to trial, commencing January 28, 2008, in the Circuit Court of Copiah County, Mississippi. After a four day trial, and subsequent to denying all motions for directed verdict, the case was submitted to the jury. The jury returned a verdict on behalf of Defendant, Bank of the South. A Judgment on the Jury Verdict was entered by the Court on February 4, 2008. [R - 750; RE-29].

Beacon Properties filed its Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, or, in the Alternative, for New Trial. [R-756 - 787]. After hearing oral argument, the trial court denied the Motion by Order of March 31, 2008. [R-803; RE-30]. Plaintiff, Beacon Properties, LLC, perfected this appeal by the filing of a Notice of Appeal on April 10, 2008. [R-872; RE-32]. Subsequent to trial, Defendant Bank of the South changed its name to Metropolitan Bank. Beacon filed its Motion to Amend Pleadings to Reflect Appellee's Name Change to Metropolitan Bank with this Court. The Motion was denied. This brief is submitted in support of Beacon's appeal.

FACTS

This case arises from the Bank of the South's taking of a check payable to a Mississippi limited liability company - Beacon Properties, LLC, and giving all of the funds of the check to a non-managing member. The check was taken in a manner completely contrary to permissive transfers of negotiable instruments set forth in Mississippi's statutes adopting and implementing the Uniform Commercial Code. Beacon was damaged when the check was taken by the Bank for the sole benefit of one member of the LLC, depriving the LLC of \$208,526.92 - the face value of the check. The undisputed facts of the case entitle Beacon Properties, LLC, the original

identified payee on the check at issue, to judgment against Bank of the South as a matter of law. The undisputed facts establish conversion of the instrument pursuant to § 75-3-420, Mississippi Code of 1972, Annotated.

Beacon Properties, LLC ("Beacon") is a limited liability company organized and existing under the laws of the state of Mississippi. In January, 2004, when the acts that give rise to this action occurred, Beacon Properties, LLC was owned equally by David C. Case, and Billy Traxler, as custodian and for the benefit of his minor son, Jason Traxler. [R-847].

Beacon was formed primarily to buy and sell property. Prior to Beacon's sale of property which generated the funds in dispute in this case, Beacon had sold at least three parcels of property, two of which were sold while Billy Traxler and David Case were members of the LLC. [T-161-166]. At the closing of the sales, Beacon would be issued a check payable to "Beacon Properties, LLC". That check would be deposited into Beacon's account at Union Planters' Bank in Jackson, Mississippi. Subsequently, the members of the LLC would meet, and determine how and when to disburse, or retain, the proceeds received by Beacon from the real estate sales. [T-166, line 10-27]. If disagreements existed as to how the funds should be spent or disbursed, the members met, discussed and resolved the issues, and then disbursed the funds. [T-164, line 13-20; T-166, line 18-27]. After the members met in conformity with the LLC's operating agreement, and a determination made as to whether and to what extent to disburse the funds, the funds were disbursed from Beacon's Union Planters' checking account. All funds had to be disbursed pursuant to the signature of David Case. Case was the only member with signature authority on the Beacon account. [T-171, line 26 through 172, line 10].

On January 23, 2004, Beacon Properties, LLC sold a parcel of real estate that it owned

located on Beasley Road in Jackson, Mississippi. Prior to the closing, Beacon had adopted a resolution that named David Case as the sole member of Beacon with authority to execute documents to facilitate the sale of the property on Beasley Road. [R-112; Trial Ex. P-16; RE-12; T-155, line 24 through T-156, line 17]. Additionally, in the Beacon Operating Agreement, at Paragraph 2.08, the Agreement, under the provision "Authority of Members", stated as follows:

No Member has the authority or power to act for or on behalf of the LLC, to do any act that would be binding on the LLC, or to incur any expenditures on behalf of the LLC, without the express consent of each Member of the LLC. [Trial Ex. P-2, at p. 19; RE-13-16].

As the Bank's employees testified, at all material times, the Bank of the South had a copy of the Operating Agreement containing the restriction on Member authority in the Beacon loan file. [T - 408, line 17 - 27].

At the closing, which was completed at the law offices of Watkins & Eager, Beacon Properties, LLC received possession of two checks. One check was made payable to "Bank of the South", in the amount of \$76,857.84. [R-114; RE-11; Trial Ex. P-3]. That check represented the pay off balance of an outstanding loan from Bank of the South to Beacon Properties, LLC. The loan was secured by the Beasley Road property. [T-156-157].

The second check represented Beacon's income from the sale of the property. [T-169, line 16-18]. That check was drawn on Trustmark National Bank, and made payable to "Beacon Properties, LLC" in the amount of \$208,526.92. [R-114; RE-10; Trial Ex. P-1; T-157].

Unlike all of the preceding transactions, the \$208,526.92 was never deposited into Beacon's Union Planter's account, or any account belonging to Beacon. [T-170, line 21 - 25].

After the closing, which occurred on a Friday afternoon, David Case took the

\$208,526.92 check back to the offices of Beacon Properties, LLC, where he met with Billy Traxler. While Case made copies of the closing statements for Traxler, Traxler took both checks - the \$76,857.74 check payable to the Bank of the South, and the \$208,526.92 Beacon income check - out of Case's folder. Case never gave Traxler the checks. [T-172, line 16 through T-173, line 25]. Believing that Traxler could not lawfully deposit the Beacon income check into any account other than Beacon's Union Planters account, Case did not attempt to physically take the check back from Traxler. [T-174, line 2-7]. Traxler and Case discussed monies owed back and forth between Traxler and Case and their related companies, including Traxler's company, Central Digging Service; Case's realty company, Case Realty; a limited liability company owned by Case, Pioneer Logistics, LLC, and; a separate limited liability company the two of them had formed together, Auto Motel, LLC. [T-180, line 13, through T-181, line 24.] Case and Traxler disagreed on amounts owed between the two of them and the various entities, and could not resolve the matters without further discussion and documentation. They agreed to obtain the necessary documents, and to meet Monday morning to continue their discussions and resolve the issues. [T-181, line 25 through T-182, line 5].

At all times, it was Case's intent to process and handle the funds from the sale of the Beasley Road property in the exact fashion all other Beacon funds had been handled - to place the funds into Beacon's checking account, agree upon a disbursement, and disburse from that account. [T-182, line 9-18]. Case was the designated tax matters partner for Beacon, and needed bank statements and deposit records to fulfill his responsibilities, and to report the income to the Internal Revenue Service. [T-177, line 17 through T-178, line 8.]. With respect to the sale of the Beasley Road property, Beacon had been furnished an IRS form 1099S, showing income to

Beacon of the entirety of the sale price - \$325,000.00. That form would be sent to the IRS, and Case needed the banking records reflecting deposit of the true income figure - \$208,526.92 - to document Beacon's actual income for tax purposes. [T-176, line 7 through T-178, line 8; Trial Ex. P-15].

The meeting planned for Monday never occurred. Case attempted to call Traxler and force a meeting without success. Case and Traxler never met to determine how to disburse the proceeds. Instead, unknown to Case at the time, on that same Monday, January 26, 2004, Jason Traxler, Billy Traxler's son, took the \$208,526.92 check to Bank of the South in Crystal Springs, Mississippi, where Billy and Jason Traxler were long time customers, and where the Traxlers kept their personal accounts, business loans, and business accounts.

Beacon Properties, LLC never had a checking account at Bank of the South, and had no accounts at Bank of the South on January 26, 2004. Beacon did have an outstanding real estate loan on the Beasley Road property with Bank of the South, which was paid off by Jason Traxler's delivery of the \$76,857.74 check from the Beasley Road property closing payable to Bank of the South.

The following material facts were stipulated to by the parties in the Pre-Trial Order, and were confirmed by the testimony at trial, and are determinative of this action:

- h. On January 26, 2004, Jason Traxler, the son of Billy Traxler, took the check to Bank of the South, and presented the check to the Bank.
- At the time Jason Traxler brought the check to the Bank of the South, the check was examined by Laura Westmoreland, a Bank of the South employee.
- j. Prior to the time the check was presented to the Bank, the words "Beacon

- Properties" were written on the back of the check.
- k. The back of the check contains the words "Beacon Properties."
- Neither Beacon Properties, LLC nor Bank of the South has knowledge of the individual who wrote the words "Beacon Properties" on the check.

[Pre-Trial Order, R-848].

Laura Westmoreland, a Vice President of Bank of the South, testified at trial that she handled the Traxler transactions on January 26, 2004, when Jason brought the checks to the Bank. Westmoreland was the bank officer who had completed the Beacon loan on the Beasley Road property, and was familiar with both Case and Traxler. [T-375, lines 7-8].

Westmoreland testified that David Case had called her a few days before the Beasley Road property closing, and had asked her to telefax the payoff on the Bank of the South property loan to a paralegal at Watkins & Eager, so that the settlement statements and disbursements could be accomplished out of closing. [T-403, line 8 through T-404, line 4]. Westmoreland also testified that Case told her that Billy Traxler would be coming in to "pay off some other loans and do some other transactions." According to Westmoreland, Case told her nothing else. [T-406, line 2 - 20].

Westmoreland testified that at the time Jason Traxler presented the \$208,526.92 check, the words "Beacon Properties" were already written on the check. Westmoreland did not see Jason Traxler, or anyone else, write those words on the check. [T-381, line 19 through 382, line 1; Trial Ex. P-1; RE-10].

Westmoreland testified that she did not know who wrote the words "Beacon Properties" on the back of the check, but that she was not concerned, because the Bank had no policies

requiring endorsements of checks by an identified person. [T-397, line 13 - T-398, line 1]. To the best of her knowledge, neither Jason nor Billy wrote "Beacon Properties" on the back of the check, and, as far as Westmoreland knows, anyone could have done it. [T-398, line 7-13]. As Beacon had no accounts at the Bank, the Bank could not stamp or otherwise supply the endorsement. [T-398, line 14-17]. The fact that Case did not write those words on the check is undisputed. The Bank never contended that he did.

Westmoreland testified that the Bank violated its own policies in the handling of the check. She testified that a check such as the Beacon check for \$208,526.92 be endorsed. [T-398, line 18-21]. Westmoreland further testified that the Bank requires that the check be endorsed by someone with the authority to endorse the check. [T-398, line 22-24]. Westmoreland testified that she made no effort to determine who signed Beacon Properties on the check, or whether the person who had placed those words on the check had the authority to do it.

- Q: Right, but you made no inquiry or investigation to determine either who had signed that check or whether they had the authority to sign it, isn't that correct?
- A: That's correct. [T-399, line 2-6].

Westmoreland took the \$76,857.74 check payable to Bank of the South for the loan payoff and paid off the Beasley Road property loan, writing out the payment ticket and completing the transaction. At that point, Beacon Properties, LLC owed no further monies to Bank of the South. [T-381, line 7 through T-383, line 12].

Notwithstanding a lack of knowledge of the identity of the individual who had placed the words "Beacon Properties" on the back of the check payable to Beacon for \$208,526.92, or whether or not that unidentified person had the authority to do so, Westmoreland then took the

\$208,526.92 check, and brought it into the office of Ralph Olier, President of the Bank. Olier was visiting with a customer when Westmoreland entered. Olier took the check from Westmoreland, looked at the check, and said to Westmoreland "yes, this is Billy's money", and said "that's fine". Olier then handed the check back to Westmoreland. Olier and Westmoreland elected not to discuss the check further because of the other customer's presence in Olier's office. [T-384, line 3 - 29].

Westmoreland then called Billy Traxler on the telephone, and Traxler told Westmoreland what to do with the check. Traxler told her he wanted some funds applied to his personal loans, and to have some bank checks issued. Westmoreland did exactly as Traxler requested. [T-385, line 4-16].

At Traxler's request, out of the proceeds of Beacon Properties, LLC's funds,

Westmoreland paid off three of Traxler's loans, all held in the name of Traxler's company,

Central Digging Service, Inc. Loan number 19194 was paid off, in the amount of \$33,061.05.

Loan number 189707, made to Traxler to purchase a Hummer vehicle, was also paid off by

Westmoreland. The payoff on the Hummer loan was \$56,357.32. The third loan that was paid

off was secured by a 2003 Kenworth tractor. The payoff on the Kenworth loan was \$56,365.73.

[T-385, line 17 through T-389, line12; Trial Ex. P-7].

The balance of the \$208,526.92 check was issued in official bank checks at the direction of Traxler as follows:

Bank of the South check number 17158 payable to Robert W. Lawrence Escrow Account in the amount of \$17,514.85.

Bank of the South check number 17159 payable to L. Traxler (Jason) in the amount of \$30,242.82.

Bank of the South check number 17160 payable to Utility Trailers in the amount of \$15,000.00.

[T-391, line 10 through T-397, line 3]; Trial Ex. P-14]

The bank check payable to Jason Traxler for \$30,242.82 was not processed. Jason brought that check back to the Bank in March, 2004, and exchanged it for official bank check number 17349 payable to Fleetwood Homes in the amount of \$20,000.00, and two additional checks, numbers 17350 and 17351, payable to L. Traxler in the amount of \$5,000.00 each. [T-396, line 25 through T-397, line 4; Trial Ex. P-14]. These derivative checks did not benefit Case or Beacon in any respect.

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