IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BEACON PROPERTIES, LLC

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

 \mathbf{v} .

NO. 2008-CA-00608

BANK OF THE SOUTH

DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF COPIAH COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CIVIL ACTION NO.: 2005-0028

C. Paige Herring (Miss. Bar. No. SCOTT, SULLIVAN, STREETMAN & FOX, P.C. P. O. Box 13847

Jackson, Mississippi 39236-3847

Ph.: 601-607-4800 Fax: 601-607-4801

Counsel for Appellee Bank of the South

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

C. The issue of check ownership was properly before the Jury.

Plaintiff contends that the Jury should have been precluded from determining title of the check. However, this was a central issue throughout this litigation. From the beginning, there was a contest over whether the Traxlers had a right to the funds via the surplus check. Plaintiff mistakenly believed that, if it and Case settled with the Traxlers, the issue would be resolved. That settlement cannot undo the facts and agreements made years before which are relevant here.

If one assumes that an agreement was made between Case and the Traxlers that the Traxlers were to have the check, then neither Case nor Beacon has standing to challenge

how the surplus check was processed.⁵ There is no "holder" issue, be it "in due course" or otherwise. There is no breach of any duty, fiduciary or otherwise, by anyone. However, in order to determine if there was an error in allowing the Jury to determine these factual issues, one must look to see if there was testimony that was sufficient to place the issues in question.

At least three witnesses testified as to the ownership of the funds represented by the check in question. There was testimony by Ralph Olier regarding representations made to him that Billy Traxler had invested a significant amount of money in the property. [T. 264.] David Case had no money in the deal. [T. 273.] He also testified that the relationship between the Bank and Traxler was the sole determinant as to whether the deal would be done. [T. 266.] It was based upon Mr. Traxler's 22 year relationship with the Bank. [T. 267.] Case told Olier that he would get whatever Billy gave him. [T. 275, also 313.] Olier believed that Traxler was 100% entitled to the funds of the surplus check given the representations made to him in front of Mr. Case. [T. 311.]

Additionally, there was testimony from Laura Westmoreland that supported the contention that the surplus check had been conveyed to Traxler. A few days before the sale, she was contacted by Case who was requesting payoff information. [T. 403.] Case then told her that Traxler would be coming by to pay off the loan and other loans following the closing of the sale. *Id.* When Traxler sent his son into the Bank to bring the payoff and the surplus checks, Traxler confirmed, via telephone, his rights to the check and how he wished that check to be utilized. [T. 385.] However, Westmoreland knew that Traxler was going to pay off some of his loans following the sale of the property prior to the actual sale from

⁵This issue was clearly decided by the Jury in the Traxlers' favor.

conversations that they had. [T. 402, 414-15.] Obviously, Traxler would be doing so with money and that money would be coming from the sale of the property.

Finally, there was testimony from Billy Traxler himself who confirmed ownership over the proceeds represented by the check. Billy testified that it was his money because he had performed work on the site that had not been paid, he had made a personal payment on the outstanding loan of Beacon, he had allowed Case to get a commission on the sale of the property despite being a partner in Beacon, and so on. [T. 456, 463, 468]; see also Defendant's Exhibit 1. He testified that they met to discuss these issues at a Wendy's on Highway 80 and that Case had agreed that Traxler would have the proceeds of the check in consideration for the foregoing. [T. 460-462.] The monies represented by the surplus check belonged to Traxler. [T. 466.] The funds were paid to him with the agreement of Case. *Id.* Traxler admitted that he told his son to go to the Bank and how he wished the check used. [T. 468-9.] According to him, "the bank didn't do anything wrong." [T. 469.] He also testified that he had authority to endorse the check from Mr. Case. [T. 477.] He also confirmed the discussion with Westmoreland as she has testified. [T. 468.]

Without rehashing Plaintiff's argument, Plaintiff denied the agreement with Traxler as to the ownership of the check. Plaintiff denies all of the foregoing and claims that the check was taken by Traxler without his authorization [T. 173-74] and that he did nothing to stop Traxler because he "was pretty confident that the only thing that he could do legally with the check was to put it in the Beacon Properties checking account." [T. 174 and 186.] However, Case is and was not as unsophisticated as he may seem.

The Jury was also presented with additional information that weighed upon his credibility. Plaintiff, on direct, discussed his prior career as an FDIC assistant bank

examiner. [T. 140-42.] He also talked about his years of work in private banks. [T. 142-43.] He discussed his experience in real estate and in the sales of property. [T. 144-45.]

The foregoing facts were used to build Case's credibility, but they returned to his detriment when it came to his post-closing activities. First, Case was forced to admit that he did absolutely nothing when the check was taken from his portfolio. [T. 173-74.] Second, he was forced to admit that he had received a commission which bolstered Traxlers' claims as to the pre-closing agreement. [T. 220-21.] Third, Case admitted the Traxlers, via their company Central Digging, had done a lot of improvements to the property. [T. 222-23.] Fourth, Plaintiff never asked for the check back. [T. 225.] Fifth, Plaintiff never reported the check as being stolen to the closing attorney, the bank upon whom the check was drawn, Bank of the South, the FDIC or any local authorities. [T. 238-40.] Despite his vast knowledge as to how banks operate, can reverse transactions or take other actions to protect his rights, Case, who by now was operating Beacon without consent of his other 50% shareholder, did nothing. [T. 236.]⁶

Therefore, with all of the foregoing in mind, we are still left with the initial factual question, was there an agreement that the check was to be given to the Traxlers via an agreement with Case? Plaintiff would have the Court disregard these facts simply on the basis that the check was written to Beacon. There is clearly sufficient evidence upon which the Jury can base a determination in favor of the Bank. In this case, the Jury clearly determined that an agreement had been made that the proceeds of the surplus check were to have been the property of the Traxlers and the Jury found in favor of the Bank.

⁶Case never consulted with the Traxlers regarding Beacon filing suit against the Bank or the Traxlers which was in violation of the agreement. Apparently, when the agreement works for Case, he claims it and when it does not, he ignores it. See T. 458, 474, 503-505.

D. There was no error with regard to the giving of an apparent authority instruction.

A review of the allegations of the Complaint include Defendant was entitled to an apparent authority defense under the facts of this case. [R. vol. 4, p 460-69.] The claims alleged therein encompass conversion under the Miss. Code Ann. § 75-3-240, negligence, gross negligence, punitive damages, constructive trust, unjust enrichment. *Id.* Apparent authority applies in most if not all of these because of the claims alleged and the facts of the case.

As stated above, the Plaintiff continually ignores the adverse testimony/evidence that is related to this case. There was threshhold issue that had to be addressed dealt with the apparent, if not actual authority, of the Traxlers to conduct the transaction at issue. Delta Chemical and Petroleum, Inc., v. Citizens Bank of Byhalia, Mississippi, 790 So.2d 862, 874 (Miss. App. 2001). The issues of apparent authority, once resolved, would have logically dictated further action on legal issues such as UCC conversion, entitled to enforce language, and other issues. However, the threshhold issue, the most important factual issue in dispute, was that of authority.

The Plaintiff's burden in this case was not so straight-forward because there were factual circumstances that were outside the course and scope of simple UCC determinations. There was testimony and evidence, as stated above, which created questions of fact as to whether the Traxlers had the right or authority, apparent or otherwise, to utilize the check as they wished. The Plaintiff asserts that under the UCC, that there is a essentially strict liability standard. However, given the facts of this case, this cannot be so because the facts do not lend themselves to such.

The UCC has absolutely no clause that deals with the circumstance wherein the only two (2) members of an LLC communicate to a bank that a check that is being presented by one of those members is the member's property and that he can do with that money what they will. The UCC does not have a clause that deals with a factual inquiries into the authority of parties. The UCC does not delve into what to do when one party tries to benefit at the expense of another after agreeing to a division of sale proceeds. Like other laws, statutes and regulations, the UCC is drafted in a vacuum, however, there is an expectation that it will be construed with the application of other relevant facts and law to achieve the ends of justice.

In this case, there was one prominent issue that had to be resolved prior to any UCC inquiry was that of the authority of the Traxlers. The use of these defenses were relevant because there were numerous grounds of relief sought in the Complaint. However, the issue of authority was also crucial because the actions of Case and the Traxlers had a critical part to play in the reliance the Bank placed upon the representations of Beacon Properties' via its members.

Apparent authority requires a showing of "(1) acts or conduct on the part of the principal indicating the agent's authority, (2) reasonable reliance on those acts, and (3) a detrimental change in position as a result of such reliance." Andrew Jackson Life Ins. Co. v. Williams, 566 So.2d 1172, 1181 (Miss. 1990). There was ample testimony to support a finding that the Traxlers acted with consent and authorization of Beacon Properties. Likewise, there was testimony that would have supported that the Bank, based upon that representation, acted in a way that, given an adverse ruling, would have been detrimental as a result of these representations and its reliance thereupon. These actions, contrary to

Including, but not limited to the discussions of Case and Traxler with the Bank.

the actions cited in the *Delta Chemical* case and *Hancock Bank v. Ensenat*, 819 So.2d 3 (Ct. App. 2001), (both cited by the Plaintiff), provide ample evidence of the authority of the Traxlers that was given by the principal (Beacon Properties - via David Case and the Traxlers) to use the surplus check to Traxlers' own ends. This crucial distinction is what mandates that the Court resolve the issue of authority as a primary inquiry. The allegations of the Plaintiff in arguing that no such defenses should have been allowed is clearly not based in the facts of this case or reality. Given the testimony presented, the Court was correct, if not justified, in allowing these defenses to be presented and not providing these instructions to the jury.

Likewise, the issue of reasonable commercial standards and good faith provides a defense as the Bank's actions were made in reliance upon the representations of the members of the Beacon. To hold otherwise and bar the presentation of these defenses in light of that testimony would have been to unfairly hamper the defense of the case. As these defenses were supported by the evidence, there can be no error in permitting the instructions on authority.

E. Mitigation of damages was an issue properly before the Court.

Given the unique facts of this case and claims of the Plaintiff, mitigation of damages was a proper issue before the Court. As stated above, this case essentially revolves around Case versus the Traxlers. Case contends that the Bank injected itself into the dispute when it accepted the surplus check. The Bank has asserted, and, in its response, Beacon admitted that it had a duty to mitigate its damages. However, Beacon contends that its loss was certain once the alleged conversion occurred. This belies the truth.

⁸In Hancock Bank v. Ensenat, 819 So.2d 3, 12 (Ct. App. 2001), the Court of Appeals noted that, under § 75-3-240, the "measure of liability would be less if the plaintiff did not own the entire instrument." In this case, there is evidence that the Plaintiff owned nothing following the agreement of Case and the Traxlers.

Under Mississippi Law, "a jury instruction may not be given unless it is supported by some evidentiary basis in the record." *Herring v. Poirrier*, 797 So.2d 797, 806 (Miss. 2000); *citing Perry v. State*, 637 So.2d 871, 877 (Miss. 1994) and *Gayle v. State*, 743 So.2d 392, 401 (Miss. App. 1999). The next question is whether testimony would support the failure to mitigate issue.

David Case knew that the check had been processed by the Bank "about a week" after the closing. [T. 235.] Case knew that transactions could be reversed. [T. 236.] Despite that, he never contacted the bank. [T. 235.] He never did anything until, four months later, Plaintiff and Case sued the bank. [T. 238.9]

Plaintiff then conveniently omits testimony from its brief that supports the giving of the instruction. Ralph Olier, testified that he could have "stopped this thing" if Plaintiff would have said something about Mr. Traxler not having authority to negotiate the check. [T. 316.] If nothing else, Olier testified, he could have limited the damages to about \$17,000. [T. 316.] Likewise, Larua Westmoreland testified that "we could have put stoppayments on the check and reversed the loan payoffs...Everything could have been reversed." [T. 419.] Thus, it is clear that the damages of the Plaintiff could have been diminished, if not eliminated, had the Plaintiff simply contacted Bank of the South. Instead, Beacon, via David Case, sat on its hands and did nothing.

An analogous situation to that of the Plaintiff is one wherein a landlord who has leased an apartment for a year has a tenant abscond two months into the lease. While the landlord is tentatively permitted to recover up to a year's worth of rent, he may only do so if he has tried to lease the premises over that time frame and not been successful. He must

⁹Also see testimony of Ralph Olier, T. 316-317, which confirms no contact with Case following transaction.

make reasonable efforts to stop or diminish the harm the absentee tenant caused. He must mitigate.

In this case, the Plaintiff knew that the check had been taken by Traxler and claims that the Bank owes him the value of that check. Like the landlord, his damage maximum was set, but not in stone. He then had a duty to do what he reasonably could in order lessen the amount of his damages, but he chose to do nothing. There was evidence that the alleged loss could have been largely resolved, if not entirely, had Case placed the Bank upon notice. The law requires that a person must mitigate their damages. *Evans v. Clemons*, 872 So.2d 23, 30 (Miss. 2003). The reason for Plaintiff's lack of action has never been explained. However, there clearly was evidence to support the giving of the instruction

F. There was no error in denying Plaintiff's Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict or in the Alternative, Motion for New Trial.

1. Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict

When looking at a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, the movant may only prevail if the facts are "overwhelmingly in favor" of the movant such that "that reasonable men could not have arrived at a contrary verdict." *American Fire Protection, Inc. v. Lewis*, 653 So.2d. 1387, 1390 (Miss. 1995). *See also Long v. Harris*, 744 So.2d 839 (Miss. App. 1999) and *H & E Equipment Services*, *LLC v. Floyd*, 959 So.2d 578 (Miss. App. 2007). If the Court finds susbtantial evidence to support the verdict, then the Court must affirm the Jury's decision. *Id*.

The sole argument of the Plaintiff is that the Court failed to instruct the jury on UCC law. However, the legal issues demanded resolution of the factual issues that revolved around ownership of the check. A perusal of the testimony and evidence shows that there was more than enough evidence to support the Jury's verdict. As stated above, that issue,

once resolved, would permit legal resolution of the issues. Given the fact that the Jury found that Traxler had a right to the surplus check, the error, if there was one, was harmless at best.

2. Motion for New Trial

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